10-23

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

ARSENIO GARICA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 72,929

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Florida Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DEBORAH GULLER
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, and the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida.

The Respondent was the Appellant in the Fourth District and the defendant in the trial court.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the state.

The following sybmol will be used:

пRп

Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Arsenio Garcia was charged by information, on April 10, 1987, a refile of Case No. 86-10573 CF 10L¹, with Violation of the Racketeer Influence and Corrupt Organization Act, Conspiracy to Traffic in Cocaine in an amount of 400 grams or more and Trafficking in Cocaine in an amount of 400 grams or more. Garcia filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from Illegal Electronic Surveillance, on September 8, 1987. (R. 89-105). Garcia appended to his Motion the Application and Affidavit for the wiretap authorization (R. 106) and the Order Authorizing Interception of Oral and Wire Communications issued on July 3, 1986. (R. 162). The trial court denied the same Motion to Suppress in Case No. 86-10573 (hereinafter referred to as Davis v. State). Exhibit A.

Respondent's plea agreement, Exhibit B, includes an agreement that the parties stipulate to the Order denying the Motion to Suppress in the <u>Davis</u> case. Exhibit B at p. 3. Respondent reserved his right to appeal, not the finding of good faith, but rather, that portion of the order which applies the <u>Leon</u> "good faith" exception to the case at bar. Exhibit A at p. 3.

¹ Case no. 86-10573 CF 10L, on appeal, <u>Davis v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 1511 (Fla. 4th DCA June 29, 1984). Exhibit C. Davis, et. al., were co-defendants of Garcia, but ultimately the cases were heard separately.

The issue presented to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and that certified to this Court, is limited to whether the Leon "good faith" exception is applicable to an exclusionary rule that is created legislatively, as opposed to judicially. The Fourth District first reached the question in Davis, reversing the lower court's finding of Leon's applicability. The instant case was reversed on the basis of Davis. The Fourth District certified the question as one of great public importance. Exhibit D. Notice to Invoke this Court's Jurisdiction was timely filed and jurisdiction was accepted.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida wiretap law is interpreted, pursuant to the Florida Constitution, in conformity with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of Fourth Amendment cases. Wiretap cases fall within Fourth Amendment jurisprudence. The purpose of the exclusionary rule in the Florida and Federal statutory schemes relating to electronic surveillances is to deter police misconduct. The judicially created exclusionary rule has as its rationale the deterrence of police misconduct. Leon applied the "good faith" exception to the exclusion of evidence that was ultimately derived from a faulty search warrant, but not due to police misconduct. Leon opens the door for future courts to determine the applicability of its exception to other Fourth Amendment cases; there is no preclusion to "good faith" application to legislatively created exclusionary rules.

ARGUMENT

THE LEON "GOOD FAITH" EXCEPTION IS AS APPLICABLE TO A STATUTORY EXCLUSIONARY RULE AS IT IS TO A JUDICIALLY CREATED EXCLUSIONARY RULE.

The narrow concern of this Court is whether <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Leon</u>, 468 U.S. 897 (1984) precludes application of a "good faith" exception to the Florida wiretap exclusionary provision. §934.06, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. The lower court found "good faith", and it is only its <u>application</u> to a statutory exclusionary rule that is questioned. Petitioner maintains that the <u>Leon</u> case formalized and expanded an ideologically existing concept of "good faith" to Fourth Amendment cases. Of more importance, however, is the fact that the <u>Leon</u> court, in addressing the particular issue presented therein, expressly preserved the question of application, to differing Fourth Amendment cass, of the "good faith" formulation.

As cases addressing questions of good-faith immunity under 42 U.S.C. §1983 . . . and cases involving the harmless error doctrine . . . make clear, courts have considerable discre-

Although Leon, 468 U.S. at 913, states there has been a lack of prior recognition of good faith exception to the 4th Amendment exclusionary rule, the opinion, at fn 11, does make note of United States v. Williams, 622 F.2d 830 (5th Cir. 1980) where a good faith exception was adopted. See also, Scott v. United States, 436 U.S. 128 (1978) where a good faith analysis is applied to the federal wiretap statute; People v. Calogero, 429 N.Y.S. 2d 970 (App. Div. 1980); State v. Catania, 427 A.2d 537, 548 (N.J. 1981).

tion in conforming their decision making processes to the exigencies of particular cases. (citations omitted).

If the resolution of a particular Fourth Amendment question is necessary to guide future action by law enforcement officers and magistrates, nothing will prevent reviewing courts from deciding that question before turning to the good-faith issue.

Leon, at 468 U.S. at 924-25. <u>Sub judice</u>, good faith was determined below (Exhibit A); this Court is now confronted with a "particular Fourth Amendment question".

§934, FLA. STAT. QUESTIONS ARE WITHIN FOURTH AMENDMENT JURISPRUDENCE.

The question presented in <u>Leon</u>, and answered in the affirmative, was 'whether the Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule should be modified . . . " <u>Leon</u>, 468 U.S. at 900. The Florida Constitution unequivocally incorporates "interception of private communications" in its scheme to protect the citizens of Florida against unreasonable searches and seizures, and does so in conformity with the United States Constitution.

§ 12. Searches and seizures

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures, and against the unreasonable interception of private communications by any means, shall not be violated. No warrant shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by affidavit, particularly describing the place or places to be searched, the person or persons, thing or things to be seized, the communication to be intercepted, and the nature of evidence to be obtained. This right

shall be construed in conformity with the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court. Articles or information obtained in violation of this right shall not be admissible in evidence if such articles or information would be inadmissible under decisions of the United States Supreme Court construing the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Article 1, §12, Florida Constitution (emphasis added). Article 1, \$12 has been applied in cases involving electronic surveillance. In a case involving a consensual wiretap, where the issue was whether the 1982 amendments to § 12 applied to a case where the electronic surveillance took place subsequent to those amendments, the Court in State v. Ridenour, 453 So.2d 193, 194 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984) held that §12 applied to the contested electronic surveillance. The Ridenour Court recognzied the conformity provision as well. Id. Accord, Madsen v. State, 502 So.2d 948 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). This Court in State v. Hume, 512 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1987) placed electronic surveillance within the rubric of Art. 1, §12, of the Florida Constitution and further held that "article 1, section 23 [right-of-privacy provision] of the Florida Constitution, does not modify the applicability of article 1, section 12 . . . " Id. at 188. The exclusionary rule of \$934.06, Fla. Stat. does not remove alleged wiretap violations from Fourth Amendment consideration.

Courts are charged with the "duty to keep legislative and constitutional provisions ambulatory . . . and to harmonize constitutional and statutory precepts with reason and good

conscience, otherwise they may become ridiculous when applied to changing concepts." State v. Herndon, 27 So.2d 833, 835 (Fla. 1946) (emphasis added). It is further understood that "[u]nder our form of constitutional government sovereignty resides in the people who may impose any limitation on the executive, the legislature or the judiciary they see fit." State v. Gay, 28 So.2d 901, 904 (Fla. 1947) (emphasis added).

By the November 2, 1982 amendment to Article 1, §12 of the Florida Constitution, the people of Florida dictated that the law governing "unreasonable interception of private communications" -- §934, Fla. Stat. -- "shall be construed in conformity with the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court." Art. 1, §12, Florida Constitution -- The Supreme Court in Leon permitted the "good faith" exception. This amendment thereby incorporates into \$934.06, Fla. Stat. a good faith exception to its exclusionary rule. Unlike the search and seizure provision of the Connecticut Constitution where an exclusionary rule is read in because of that State's stricter approach than that afforded by the Federal Constitution, infra at 14, Florida search and seizure law "imposes no higher standard than that of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution." State v. Hetland, 366 So.2d 831, 836 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979) affirmed 387 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1980).

Leon's leaving the door open to allow consideration of the instant question, and the fact that Florida's wiretap law has

been expressly incorporated under the umbrella of other Fourth Amendment rulings and precedents, allows this Court to apply the "good faith" exception to any exclusionary rule. In <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Donovan</u>, 429 U.S. 413 (1977) the Supreme Court clearly interprets federal wiretap law in light of the Fourth Amendment and sets out to determine Congressional intent. <u>Id</u>. 425-27.

THE DECISION BELOW

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's denial of Respondent's Motion to Suppress³ based on its earlier decision in a related case.⁴ The opinion in <u>Davis v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 1511 (Fla. 4th DCA June 29, 1988) resulted in a reversal of the trial court's denial of that appellant's Motion to Suppress. The same trial court order was stipulated to as being applicable to Respondent. (Exhibit B). The 4th DCA reversed based primarily on <u>United States v. Spadaccino</u>, 800 F.2d 292 (2nd Cir. 1986) and <u>United States v. Orozco</u>, 600 F.Supp. 1418 (S.D. Cal. 1986).

The Court in <u>United States v. Spadaccino</u>, 800 F.2d 292 (2nd Cir. 1986) seemingly addresses "on all fours" the issue currently before this Court. Petitioner maintains, however, that major variances in the respective factual circumstances renders application of <u>Spadaccino</u> inappropriate <u>sub judice</u>. Petitioner

Garcia v. State, 13 F.L.W. 1884 (Fla. 4th DCA August 10, 1988)

Davis v. State, 13 F.L.W. 1511 (Fla. 4th DCA June 29, 1988)

further maintains that <u>Spadaccino</u> does not require <u>per se</u> preclusion of Leon.

The search warrant in <u>Spadaccino</u> was not the ultimate reason for that Court's opinion. The violation of Connecticut law occurred subsequent to the wiretap, the warrant, and the search and seizure. The violation was of the 90 day notice provision which mandates notice to parties not named in, yet recorded pursuant to, the wiretap order, not later than 90 days after the termination of the wiretap.

[W]e conclude that the district court was not entitled to engraft upon the <u>notice</u> requirement of the Connecticut wiretapping statute on exception for actions of law enforcement officers carried out in good faith.

Id. at 296 (emphasis added). The holding in <u>Spadaccino</u> is succinct. The Court's language regarding non-application of a judicially created exception to a statutory scheme is not the blanket exclusion with which the Court below, <u>sub judice</u>, has covered Respondent.

The <u>Spadaccino</u> Court's interpretation, and non-application, of <u>Leon</u> includes recognition of a judicially created exception to a judicially created rule. However, the Court also notes that the "Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule is based on the Supreme Court's weighing of the costs and benefits of the exclusion of evidence as a <u>deterrent to police conduct</u> that violates certain federal constitutional rights." <u>Id</u>. at 296 (empasis added). This recognition of the deterrence purpose

provides this Court with grounds for reversal of the lower court's decision and a substantial basis upon which to apply the Leon "good faith" exception to the statutory exclusionary rule of \$934.06, Fla. Stat.

The legislative history of 18 U.S.C. §2515, and by implication of §934.06, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, indicates an intent to <u>deter</u> police misconduct as a means of protecting privacy.

Section 2515 of the new chapter imposes an evidentiary sanction to compel compliance with the other prohibitions of the chapter. It provides that intercepted wire or oral communications or evidence derived therefrom may not be received in evidence in any proceeding before any court, grand jury, department, officer, agency, regulatory body, legislative committee, or other authority of the United States, a State, or a political subdivision of a State, where the disclosure of that information would be in violation of this chapter. The provision must, of course, be read in light of section 2518 (10)(a) discussed below, which defines the class entitled to make a motion to suppress. It largely reflects existing law. It applies to suppress evidence directly (Nardone v. United States, 58 S.Ct. 275, 302 U.S. 379 (1937)) or indirectly obtained in violation of the chapter (Nardone v. United States, 60 S.Ct. 266, 308 U.S. 338 (1939).) There is, however, no intention to change the attenuation rule. See Nardone v. United States, 127 F.2d 521 (2d) certiorari denied, 62 S.Ct. 1296, 316 U.S. 698 (1942); Wong Sun v. United States, 83 S.Ct. 407, 371 U.S. 471 (1963). Nor generally to press the scope of the suppression role beyond present search and seizure law. See Walder v. United States, 74 S.Ct. 354, 347 U.S. 62 (1954). But it does apply across the board in both Federal and State proceeding. Compare Schwartz v. Texas, 73 S.Ct. 232, 344 U.S. 199 (1952). And it is not limited to criminal proceedings. Such a suppression rule is necessaary and proper to protect privacy.

Compare Adams v. Maryland, 74 S.Ct. 442, 347 U.S. 179 (1954); Mapp v. Ohio, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 367 U.S. 643 (1961). The provision thus forms an integral part of the system of limitations designed to protect privacy. Along with the criminal and civil remedies, it should serve to guarantee that the standards of the new chapter will sharply curtail the unlawful interception of wire and oral communications.

S. Rep. No. 1097, 90th Cong., 2d Sess, reprinted in 1968 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News 2184-85 (emphasis added). The reference to Mapp v. Ohio, 364 U.S. 643 (1961), unequivocally places the §2515 exclusionary rule on an equal footing with the exclusionary rule enunciated in Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914). comparison to Adams v. Maryland, 347 U.S. 179 (1954) clarifies Congressional intent further in relation to the statement regarding the protection of privacy. As noted, Mapp recognizes that the exclusionary rule is implimented as a deterrence to police as a protection of privacy. Adams, on the other hand, is based on compulsory self-incrimination and the granting of immunity for said testimony. Pursuant to a federal statute, compelled testimony before a grand jury may not be used in any criminal proceeding. This statutory preclusion, although it looks like the instant wiretap exclusionary rule, is not based on privacy/deterrence. The comparison, therefore, places 18 U.S.C. §2515 under Mapp.

The <u>Spadaccino</u> Court specifically declined to apply a judicial created exception⁵ designed to modify an exclusionary

⁵ United States. v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984).

rule <u>created to deter</u> police misconduct, 6 to an exclusionary rule enacted, not to deter police misconduct, but rather, to protect unnamed parties to a wiretap order who were nonetheless inadvertently recorded.

The Formica court noted that the notice provision had been included by the state legislature in order to minimize the intrusiveness of wiretaps on the privacy of individuals, and stated as follows:

The service of the ninety day postintercept inventory within the required
time period on one who was not a named
target of the tap alerts him promptly to
the fact that his conversations were
intercepted, thus enabling him to obtain
from the panel copies of his conversations, the applications and orders
'immediately upon the filing of a motion
requesting such information'; General
Statutes \$54-41K; and enabling him
promptly to seek his civil remedies under
General Statutes \$54-41r.

Spadaccino, at 294-95. Logically, the Court in <u>Spadaccino</u> rejected the invitation to mix apples and oranges -- deterrence to police and protection of citizens created different balancing schemes wherein it would be inappropriate to weigh the costs and benefits of failing to protect citizens as opposed to the exclusion of evidence as a deterrence. <u>Spadaccino</u> recognizes the difference. "It would be rare for a court to find that a seizure

Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914); Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961).

State v. Formica, 3 Conn. App. 477, 489 A.2d 1060, cert. denied, 196 Conn. 806, 494 A.2d 903 (1985).

of evidence, pursuant to an otherwise valid search warrant, was not in good faith because <u>thereafter</u> notice was not timely mailed." Id. at 296 (emphasis supplied).

Spadaccino is further distinguished by the nature of the respective states' interpretation and application of their wiretap laws. Connecticut law, \$54-41K, affords its citizens greater protection than does the equivalent federal notice requirement in 18 U.S.C. \$2518(8)(d). Spadaccino at 295, 297. Whereas, Florida courts have interpreted \$934, Fla. Stat. in conformity with federal law. Art. 1, \$ 12, Florida

Constitution. Federal law, although falling on both sides of the instant issue, infra, is clear that the principle behind exclusion is deterrence.

[T]he Court itself recognized that the purpose of the exclusionary rule 'is to deter -- to compel respect for the constitutional guarantee in the only effectively available way -- by removing the incentive to disregard it.' Elkins v. United States, [364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960).

Mapp at 656. Leon gives exception to the exclusionary rule. Where the purpose of the exclusionary rule, whether it be statutory or otherwise, is to deter, the logic and holding of Leon applies.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal relied on <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Orozco</u>, 600 F. Supp. 1418 (S.D. Cal. 1986) as further grounds for determining that the <u>Leon</u> "good faith" exception to the exclusionary rule was inapplicable to \$934.06, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>

The <u>Orozco</u> opinion is multifacited and is, at the very least, contrary to the U.S. Circuit Court opinion in <u>Spadaccino</u> as to its interpretation of 18 U.S.C §2518. The variances in state law, and in the federal courts, in the application of the federal wiretap law, provides room for this Court's clarifying Florida's statutory scheme as interpreted in light of federal wiretap law and Supreme Court Fourth Amendment cases.

Sub judice, Garcia argued below that a judicially created exception to a judically created exclusion could not be applied to a statutory exclusion. Interestingly, and as an aside, Orozco applies a judicially created requirement to the federal wiretap statue.

Although the <u>Franks</u> decison concerned a search warrant affidavit, the <u>Franks</u> standard has been extended to affidavits accompanying electronic surveillance applications . . .

The Franks decision focused on the probable cause determination by the judge issuing the search warrant, but there is no reason why the Franks analysis should not be applied to the judge's necessity determination in the electronic surveillance context. United States v. Ippolito, 774 F.2d at 1485.

Orozco at 1518-19 (citations omitted).

The <u>Orozco</u> Court did not apply the <u>Leon</u> "good faith" exception to the federal wiretap law, and continued its inquiry

⁸ In ordering suppression of evidence derived from a wiretap, the Court in <u>United States v. Ippolito</u>, 774 F.2d 1482 (1985) applied the requirements of <u>Franks v. Delaware</u>, in much the same manner the <u>Leon</u> "good faith" question should be asked and answered prior to exclusion, if good faith was not found.

to find probable cause. The analysis of its rejection of <u>Leon</u> as applied to a statutory exclusion, is short and ostensibly negated by its reference to the legislative history of 18 U.S.C. §2515.

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