IN THE

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GARCIA

SAMUEL J. RABIN, JR. Suite 204 One N.E. 2nd Avenue Miami, Florida 33132 Phone: (305) 358-1064 ARTHUR JOEL BERGER Suite B 7103 S.W. 102nd Avenue Miami, Florida 33173 Phone: (305) 274-3388



10

Ţ

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1978, the State sought to prevent the exclusion of illegally intercepted communications, which had been excluded based on the sanctions provided in Chapter 934. Then, the State attacked the constitutionality of that Chapter's provision for statutory exclusion of illegally intercepted communications. This Court rejected that effort in <u>State v. Walls</u>, 356 So.2d 294 (Fla. 1978). In this case, the State tries another approach to thwart the effect of that statutory exclusionary rule, i.e. § 934.06, Fla. Stat. (1987).

The State argues that the legal holding in <u>United States v.</u> <u>Leon</u>, 468 U.S. 987, 104 S.Ct. 3405 (1984), which exclusively concerned the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, can be read into those statutory provisions of Chapter 934, which require exclusion as a sanction for statutory violations of that Chapter.

Legal history establishes beyond dispute that wiretapping in Florida is controlled by statutes promulgated by both the Congress of the United States and the legislature of the State of Florida. It is within the power of those legislative bodies to decide what, if any, sanction should be imposed for violations of their respective statutory limitations on the right of anyone to wiretap. The sanctions, which have been chosen by Congress and the Florida legislature, do not violate any provision of the Constitutions of the United States or Florida.

Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution of the United States, Congress has preempted the field of wiretapping. 1968, Congress chose not to preempt this field in its entirety In and permitted the States to also legislate in this field, provided that no State enacted legislation which was less restrictive than statutes concerning wiretapping. Prior to 1986, Congress's Congress did not enact a statutory "good faith" exception to its federal statutory scheme for wiretapping. Following the Leon decision and as one minor part of its Electronic Communications Privacy Act Of 1986, which Act expanded the scope of its statutes to new technological advances in communications, Congress altered the statutory sanctions governing the admissibility of evidence in its prior wiretap scheme. In that act, Congress provided for a limited adoption of the "good faith" exception to violations of its statutory scheme, which were constitutional in nature. Congress <u>did</u> not adopt a "good faith" exception for nonconstitutional violations of that statutory scheme.

Because Florida's Chapter 934 could not be <u>less</u> restrictive than Congress's statutory scheme, the Florida legislature responded to this new federal statute by enacting Chapter 88-184, Laws of Florida. The Florida legislature adopted much of this new federal statute as the law in Florida. <u>However</u>, the Florida legislature expressly chose <u>not to adopt</u> that portion of the new federal act, which provided for a limited adoption of the <u>Leon</u> principle. Because this legislative decision resulted in Florida having a more restrictive sanctions provision in its wiretapping statutory scheme, this aspect of Florida's wiretapping statutes

is not illegal, as violative of the principle of federal preemption involved in the field of wiretapping.

The separation of powers doctrine of the Florida Constitution vests the Florida legislature with exclusive authority to legislate in the area of wiretapping. Consequently, this Court will not overrule the Florida legislature's policy decision not to engraft the same "good faith" exception onto its wiretap statutes that Congress did. Because the Florida legislature's decision to reject a "good faith" exception is unambiguous, this Court will not legislatively enact that principle onto Chapter 934 under the guise of statutory construction.

Even assuming that the new federal statutory "good faith" exception has been adopted in Florida, the same federal act that created it also established that this new provision could have no legal effect on the conduct of the law enforcement officers, who intercepted communications pursuant to the authorization order involved in this case.

ARGUMENT

THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE EXPRESSLY BECAUSE REJECTED ENACTMENT OF A "GOOD FAITH" EXCEPTION INADMISSIBILITY ILLEGALLY TO THE OF INTERCEPTED COMMUNICATIONS PROVIDED FOR IN FLORIDA STATUTES, THE CHAPTER 934, SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA WILL NOT ENACT THAT EXCEPTION UNDER THE GUISE OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

- A. Congress Has Exercised Its Power To Control Wiretapping³ And Has Exclusive Control Of What, If Any, Sanctions Are To Be Imposed For Violations Of Those Federal Statutes Which Regulate Wiretapping.
 - Inadmissibility of wiretap evidence prior to the enactment of the 1968 federal statutes regulating wiretapping.

<u>Olmstead v. United States</u>, 277 U.S. 438, 48 S.Ct. 564 (1928) held that wiretapping by federal law enforcement officers did not violate the Fourth Amendment. However, that Court also stated:

> Congress may, of course, protect the secrecy of telephone messages by making them, when intercepted, inadmissible in federal criminal trials, by direct legislation, and thus depart from the common law of evidence. But the courts may not adopt such a policy by attributing an enlarged and unusual meaning to the Fourth Amendment. ***

<u>Id</u>. 277 U.S. at 465-466, 48 S.Ct. at 568.

³ Federal legislation covers all forms of electronic surveillance. This case only involves wiretapping. For the purpose of simplicity and clarity, this legislation will be referred to as if it only addressed wiretapping. This Court has itself held that the United States Constitution grants to Congress the authority to regulate wiretapping. <u>State</u> <u>v. Daniels</u>, 389 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1980).

In response to the <u>Olmstead</u> decision, Congress enacted Section 605 of the Communications Act of 1934. Act of June 19, 1934, Ch. 652, 48 Stat. 1064, 1103; 47 U.S.C. § 605. That statute provided in pertinent part that "no person not being authorized by the sender shall intercept any communication and divulge [it] to any person." Exclusively based on statutory construction, the absolutely barred Supreme Court held that this statute admissibility of wiretap-derived testimony in a federal criminal That Court held that the decision to prevent the use of trial. wiretapping by federal law enforcement officers was a policy decision for Congress to make. Nardone v. United States, 302 U.S. 379, 58 S.Ct. 275 (1937).

Again based only on statutory construction⁴, the Supreme Court in <u>Benanti v. United States</u>, 355 U.S. 96, 78 S.Ct. 155 (1957) reaffirmed its prior holdings that the federal statute contained an absolute prohibition against the divulgence of communications intercepted by wiretapping and that this statute applied both to intrastate and to interstate communications. The

⁴ "Petitioner, [the defendant,] ... claims that the admission of the evidence was barred by the Federal Constitution and Section 605. We do not reach the constitutional questions as this case can be determined under the statute." <u>Benanti v. United States</u>, 355 U.S. at 99, 78 S.Ct. 157 (1957).

Supreme Court then expanded the scope of its prior rulings and held that wiretap evidence, which had been obtained by state law enforcement officers by means of a state warrant in accordance with state law, was inadmissible in a federal criminal trial.

> [H]ad Congress intended to allow the States to make exceptions to Section 605, it would have [K]eeping in said so. *** mind this comprehensive scheme of interstate regulation and the public policy underlying Section 605, as part of that scheme, we find that Congress, setting out a prohibition in plain terms, did not mean to allow state legislation which would contradict that section and that policy.

Id. 355 U.S. at 105-106, 78 S.Ct. at 160.

The federal statutory prohibition on the admissibility of wiretap evidence became truly absolute throughout the United States, when the Supreme Court handed down its decision in <u>Lee</u> \underline{v} . Florida, 392 U.S. 378, 88 S.Ct. 2096 (1968). Predicated only on principles of statutory construction⁵, the Supreme Court held that § 605 of the federal statute barred the admissibility of wiretap evidence in the state courts, even though Florida police officers wiretapped without violating any State of Florida law.⁶

⁵ "Issues under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments were also presented in the petition for certiorari. We do not reach those issues." <u>Id</u>. 379 U.S. at 379 n.1, 88 S.Ct. at 2097 n.1.

⁶ Prior of 1969, no Florida statute either authorized Florida law enforcement officers to conduct wiretaps or barred the admissibility of wiretap evidence in Florida. <u>Perez v. State</u>, 81 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1955). Consequently, the decision in <u>Berger v.</u> <u>New York</u>, 388 U.S. 41, 87 S.Ct. 1873 (1967), which held a New York wiretapping statute violative of the Fourth Amendment, was irrelevant to Florida. It was not until 1969 that Florida enacted a state statute to regulate wiretapping and the admission of wiretap-derived evidence. Ch. 69-17, Laws of Fla.

*** There clearly is a federal statute, applicable in Florida and every other State, that made illegal the conduct of the Orlando authorities in this case. And that statute, we hold today, also made the recordings of the petitioner's telephone conversations inadmissible as evidence in the Florida court.

Id. 392 U.S. at 380, 88 S.Ct. at 2098.

As of June 17, 1968 when <u>Lee</u> was decided, the admissibility of wiretap evidence in a State of Florida court was controlled by a federal <u>statute</u> and the principle of <u>statutory</u> <u>construction.⁷</u>

The law of wiretapping in Florida was to change two days later with the enactment into law of <u>new</u> federal <u>statutory</u> wiretap law. Again, the admissibility of wiretap evidence in a Florida court would depend entirely on <u>statutes</u> and <u>statutory</u> <u>construction</u>.

> 2. Conditional admissibility of wiretap evidence in Florida from 1968 until the enactment of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986.

Congress decided to alter its existing policy decision regarding the lawfulness of wiretapping by federal and state law enforcement officers. Congress switched from absolutely barring

⁷ Because this federal statute, 47 U.S.C. § 605, was construed by the Supreme Court to absolutely bar both wiretapping and the admissibility of wiretap evidence, this federal statute would never violate the Fourth Amendment. Consequently, <u>Berger v. New</u> <u>York</u>, 388 U.S. 41, 87 S.Ct. 1873 (1967), which invalidated a statute that permitted wiretapping, was irrelevant to the constitutional validity of this federal statute.

wiretapping to allowing it, <u>if</u> certain federal statutory conditions were satisfied. This was accomplished by the enactment of Title III of the Omnibus Crime Control and Sate Streets Act of 1968, Pub. L. No. 90-351, 82 Stat. 211, which was codified as 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-2520.⁸

Because Congress was now going to permit both wiretapping and its admissibility as evidence in court, Congress drafted this legislation to make it satisfy the Fourth Amendment, as construed in <u>Berger v. New York</u>, 388 U.S. 41 (1967).⁹ Senate Report No. 1097, 90th Cong., 2d Sess. (1968) <u>reprinted in</u> 1968 U.S. CODE CONG. & AD. NEWS 2112 at 2153.

⁸ In its original enactment of Title III, Congress created 18 U.S.C. § 2520, which expressly provided: "A <u>good faith</u> reliance on a court order or legislative authorization shall constitute a complete defense to any civil or criminal action brought under this chapter or under any other law." Pub. L. No. 90-351, Title III, § 802, 82 Stat. 223. However, the words "good faith" do <u>not</u> appear anywhere in either the newly enacted 18 U.S.C. §§ 2515 and 2518(10), the federal statutory sections at issue in this case regarding the <u>admissibility</u> of wiretap evidence in a court.

Obviously, Congress knew the two words "good faith" in 1968, years before those two words entered the lexicon of the Supreme Court of the United States regarding the exclusionary rule that was associated with the Fourth Amendment. This omission from 18 U.S.C. §§ 2515 and 2518(10) obviously enhances Defendant Garcia's analysis of those two statutory provisions.

⁹ As will be discussed subsequently, Congress chose to make a <u>statutory</u> change in its <u>statutory</u> rule of exclusion and <u>partially</u> tie the construction of its <u>statutory</u> law on the admissibility of wiretap evidence to decisions of the United States Supreme Court regarding the exclusionary rule that applies to the Fourth Amendment. What is important to this litigation is the fact that, absent a statute, the Fourth Amendment and the exclusionary rule tied to the Fourth Amendment have <u>never</u> affected the admissibility of wiretap evidence as a result of a decision of the Supreme Court of the United States construing the Fourth Amendment. <u>Eq. Gelbard v. United States</u>, 408 U.S. 41 at n.1, 92 S.Ct. 2357 at 2360 n.1 (1972).

Because there was no uniformity in state statutory wiretap Congress decided to preempt the field by national law, legislation, but only partially. Congress decided to let the States enact their own wiretap statutes, as long as those state statutes were as restrictive or more restrictive than these federal statutes. Congress forbid the states from enacting less restrictive state wiretap statutes. Senate Report No. 1097, 90th Cong., 2d Sess. (1968) reprinted in 1968 U.S. CODE CONG. & AD. NEWS 2112 at 2156, 2187; <u>State v. Aurilio</u>, 366 So.2d 71 4th DCA 1978); State v. McGillicuddy, 342 So.2d 567 (Fla. (Fla. action of partial preemption 2d DCA 1977). This was constitutional. Federal Energy Regulatory Comm'n v. Mississippi, 456 U.S. 742, 102 S.Ct. 2126 (1982). Simply stated, Congress permitted the States to provide only greater protection to the right to privacy than this federal statutory scheme for wiretapping.

Under these federal statutes, all wiretapping is flatly prohibited, except as expressly authorized. Evidence obtained in violation of this statute is inadmissible in a court, and this <u>statutory</u> prohibition is enforced by means of a <u>statutory</u> motion to suppress. <u>Gelbard v. United States</u>, 408 U.S. 41, 92 S.Ct. 2357 (1972); 18 U.S.C. §§ 2515, 2518. "[T]he congressional findings articulate clearly the intent to utilize the evidentiary prohibition of [18 U.S.C.] § 2515 to enforce the limitations imposed by Title III upon wiretapping" <u>Gelbard v. United States</u>, 408 U.S. 41 at 48-49, 92 S.Ct. 2357 at 2361 (1972). "Section 2515 is thus central to the legislative scheme." <u>Id</u>. 408

U.S. at 50, 92 S.Ct. at 2362.

United States v. Giordano, 416 U.S. 505, 94 S.Ct. 1820 (1974) held that a non-constitutional purely-statutory violation of Title III could result in suppression of wiretap evidence. <u>Giordano</u> is also significant to this litigation for the following statement:

> We also reject the Government's contention that even if the approval ... did not comply with the statutory requirements, the evidence obtained from the interceptions should not have been suppressed. The issue does not turn on the judicially fashioned exclusionary rule aimed at deterring violations of Fourth Amendment rights, but upon the provisions of Title III; and, in our view, the Court of appeals correctly suppressed the challenged wiretap evidence.

Id. 416 U.S. at 524, 94 S.Ct. at 1931.

<u>Giordano</u> found that legislative history established that Congress did not intend to expand statutory suppression beyond thenexisting search and seizure law, but that "it would not extend existing search-and-seizure law for Congress to provide for the suppression of evidence obtained in violation of explicit statutory prohibitions." <u>Id</u>. 416 U.S. at 528-529, 94 S.Ct. at 1933.

Finally, the Supreme Court held that it was the conduct of law enforcement officers which determined whether their actions violated the statutes making up Title III. The subjective good faith of those officers was legally irrelevant to a determination of whether their conduct violated Title III's statutory

provisions.¹⁰ Scott v. United States, 436 U.S. 128 at 138-139, 98 S.Ct. 1717 at 1724 (1978).

The Florida legislature enacted a Florida wiretap statute in 1969, one year after the federal wiretap legislation went into effect. Ch. 69-17, Laws of Fla. What is most important is the fact that Florida's exclusionary rule, §934.06, Fla. Stat., was enacted word-for-word as it was written in 18 U.S.C. § 2515. Ch. 69-17, § 6, Laws of Fla. Indeed, to date the Florida legislature has never amended this particular statue. Ch. 88-184, Laws of Fla. Likewise, the Florida legislature adopted 18 § 2518(10)(a) in every material particular, when it U.S.C. enacted §934.09(9)(a). Ch. 69-17, § 9, Laws of Fla. As will be discussed below, this Florida statute was not amended until 1988.

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